COMMENTARY



Commentary on Stuart et al. (2013): Domestic violence and interventions to reduce alcohol use

This study, reported by Gregory Stuart and colleagues, offers empirical evidence to support the hypothesis that perpetrators of domestic violence who receive a brief intervention to address alcohol use in addition to a 40-hour group batterer programme will not only consume fewer drinks (and on fewer days) than those who only receive the batterer programme, but will also be less likely to be aggressive and violent [1]. Although these effects fade over time, these findings are significant in the context of an area in which the efficacy of many behaviour change programmes has yet to be demonstrated adequately [2], and in which there is a pressing need to develop more effective interventions [3]. Given that the alcohol intervention utilized in this study was only 90 minutes long, there is considerable potential for brief interventions of this type to be integrated into other batterer programmes in ways that place minimal additional demands on both service providers and clients. Brief alcohol interventions have been shown to be consistently effective in other populations [4], and this study provides further evidence that focused intervention around alcohol use is likely to pay dividends in terms of preventing further violence.

Findings such as these should not, however, come as a particular surprise. Those who deliver programmes will know how common it is for perpetrators to view alcohol use as a trigger for violence [5], and the co-occurrence between alcohol consumption and/or substance misuse and episodes of domestic violence is now well documented [6,7]. It has also been established that alcohol consumption not only influences the severity of the violence [8], but also reduces programme attendance and efficacy [9]. Alcohol use is relevant to domestic violence not only when intoxication over-rides the broad disposition to self-regulate aggressive behaviour [10], but also in terms of how it influences the way in which perpetrators (mis-)perceive provocation [11]. What is more surprising, perhaps, is the apparent lack of attention that is given to alcohol use in many contemporary batterer programmes [10], although programmes exist that include modules to promote abstinence [12]. More intensive and specialized programmes are, however, rare. A recent review of programmes published by the Washington State Institute for Public Policy [13] identified only one rigorous evaluation of a substance abuse treatment that had been designed specifically for batterers. As such, questions remain about how alcohol treatment might be best be integrated into existing programme content and the optimal intensity or type of treatment that is required.

It is interesting to note that the alcohol intervention used in this study drew heavily upon the principles of motivational interviewing [14]; an approach that is genuinely collaborative in nature. Uncertainty also exists within the domestic violence sector about how the extent to which interventions should be delivered collaboratively, with some programmes predicated on the need to actively confront the attitudes and values that support violence from the outset of intervention in order to overcome claims that the behaviour was not serious, or that in some way the victim provoked or deserved the violence [15]. It is sometimes assumed that the perpetrator must be confronted or 'jolted' into active behaviour change, and more didactic, psycho-educational approaches to group work are recommended. Other programmes can be considered to be more psychotherapeutic in nature and consistent with the approach to intervention that was adopted in this study. Such differences can be understood in terms of broader questions about how to best match clients who are at different stages of change to different styles of intervention [16,17], although the work of Stuart and colleagues seems to suggest that more collaborative and client-centred methods of intervention will be broadly applicable to changing the behaviour of perpetrators of domestic violence.

Declaration of interests

None.

Keywords Aggression, alcohol, batterer treatment, domestic violence, motivation, treatment.

ANDREW DAY

Deakin University—Psychology, Geelong, Vic. 5220, Australia. E-mail: andrew.day@deakin.edu.au

References

- Stuart G., Shorey R., Moore T., Ramsey S., Kahler C., O'Farrell T. et al. Randomized clinical trial examining the incremental efficacy of a 90-minute motivational alcohol intervention as an adjunct to standard batterer intervention for men. Addiction 2013; 108: 1376–84.
- Babcock J. C., Green C. E., Robie C. Does batterers' treatment work? A meta-analytic review of domestic violence treatment. Clin Psychol Rev 2004; 23: 1023–53.
- 3. Day A., Chung D., O'Leary P., Carson E. Programs for men who perpetrate domestic violence: an examination of the issues underlying the effectiveness of intervention programs. *J Fam Violence* 2009; 24: 203–12.

- 4. Kaner E. F. S., Dickinson H. O., Beyer F., Pienaar E., Schlesinger C., Campbell F. *et al.* The effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions in primary care settings: a systematic review. *Drug Alcohol Rev* 2009; **28**: 301–23.
- Day A., O'Leary P., Chung D., Justo D., Moore S., Carson E. et al. Integrated responses to domestic violence: legally mandated intervention programs for male perpetrators.
 Trends Issues Crime Crim Justice 2010; 404: 1–8.
- Gilchrist E., Johnson R., Takrili R., Weston S., Beech A., Kebbel M. Domestic Violence Offenders: Characteristics and Offending Related Needs (Findings 217). London: Home Office: 2003.
- Klostermann K., Fals-Stewart W. Intimate partner violence and alcohol use: exploring the role of drinking in partner violence and its implications for intervention. *Aggress Violent Behav* 2006; 11: 587–97.
- Graham K., Bernard J., Wilshak S., Gmel G. Alcohol may not cause partner violence but it does seem to make it worse. A cross national comparison of the relationship between alcohol and severity of violence. *J Interpers Violence* 2010; 26: 1503–23.
- Easton C. J., Mandel D. L., Hunkele K. A., Nich C., Rounsaville B. J., Carroll K. M. A cognitive behavioral therapy for alcohol-dependent domestic violence offenders: an integrated substance abuse–domestic violence treatment approach (SADV). Am J Addict 2007; 16: 24–31.

- Vohs K. D., Baumeister R. F. Handbook of Self-Regulation: Research, Theory, and Applications. New York: Guilford Press; 2010.
- Howells K., Daffern M., Day A. Aggression and violence. In: Soothill K., Dolan M., Rogers P., editors. *The Handbook of Forensic Mental Health*. Cullompton, Devon: Willan; 2008, p. 351–74.
- 12. Fals-Stewart W., Kashdan T. B., O'Farrell T. J., Birchler G. R. Behavioral couples therapy for drug-abusing patients: effects on partner violence. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2002; **22**: 87–96.
- Washington State Institute for Public Policy. What Works To Reduce Recidivism By Domestic Violence Offenders? 2013.
 Available at: http://www.wsipp.wa.gov (accessed 11 March 2013). Doc. No. 13-01-1201. Olympia, WA: Washington State Institute in Public Policy.
- Miller W. R., Rollnick S. Motivational Interviewing: Preparing People for Change, 2nd edn. New York: Guilford Press; 2002.
- 15. Pence E., Paymar M. Education Groups for Men Who Batter: The Duluth Model. New York: Springer; 1983.
- Levesque D. A., Velicer W. F., Castle P. H., Greene R. N. Resistance among domestic violence offenders: measurement development and initial validation. *Violence Against Women* 2008; 14: 158–84.
- Murphy C. M., Baxter V. A. Motivating batterers to change in the treatment context. *J Interpers Violence* 1997; 12: 607– 20.